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P-R-O-C-E-E-D-I-N-G-S 

THE DEPUTY CLERK:  Your Honor, this is criminal case

21-37 United States of America versus Timothy Louis

Hale-Cusanelli.  Counsel please introduce yourselves for the

record, starting with the government.

MR. NELSON:  Good morning, Your Honor, Jim Nelson for

the United States.

THE COURT:  Good morning, Mr. Nelson.

MR. ZUCKER:  Good morning, Judge.  John Zucker on

behalf of Mr. Hale-Cusanelli.

THE COURT:  Good morning, Mr. Zucker, and good

morning Mr. Hale-Cusanelli.

Mr. Zucker, have you had an opportunity to talk with your 

client about proceeding virtually rather than in person for 

this hearing? 

MR. ZUCKER:  Not specifically about this proceeding,

but in general that the courts are closed and that the only

option is to proceed by Zoom.  I believe he does not object.

We simply cannot conduct these hearings -- we can't transport

him to conduct these COVID hearings.

Mr. Hale-Cusanelli, you understand that -- well, we're 

asking you if you agree to proceed by Zoom because there 

frankly is no alternative to address this in terms of 

logistics? 

THE DEFENDANT:  That's understood and agreed.
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THE COURT:  Okay, I do think it's appropriate to

proceed this way in light of the authorization in the CARES Act

and the danger and difficulty were Mr. Hale-Cusanelli and

others to proceed in-person.

I understand, sir, you've actually had COVID recently

while in jail and I'm sorry to hear that.  Are you doing

better, sir?

THE DEFENDANT:  Yes, Your Honor, I'm recovered.  I

appreciate that.

THE COURT:  I believe we need to arraign the

defendant, Mr. Hale-Cusanelli.  The Clerk of the Court will

arraign you now.  The language will be directed to you, but

typically your attorney responds on your behalf.

THE DEPUTY CLERK:  Mr. Timothy Hale-Cusanelli, in

criminal case 21-37 in which you are charged by an indictment

on:  Count One, civil disorder and aiding and abetting.  Count

Two, obstruction of an official proceeding and aiding and

abetting.  Count Three, entering and remaining in a restricted

building or grounds.  Count Four, disorderly and disruptive

conduct in a restricted building or grounds.  Count Five,

impeding ingress and egress in a restricted building or

grounds.  Count Six, disorderly conduct in a Capitol building.

Count Seven, parading, demonstrating or picketing in a Capitol

building.  

Do you waive the formal reading of the indictment and how 
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do you wish to plead? 

MR. ZUCKER:  On behalf of Mr. Hale-Cusanelli, I'll

waive formal reading of the indictment, plead not guilty to all

counts; assert all constitutional rights, including rights to

speedy trial, although acknowledge note of the Standing Order

due to the COVID pandemic; and assert all other constitutional

rights including production of Brady material.

THE COURT:  Thank you, Mr. Zucker.

Under the Due Process Protections Act, I'm required to

order that the government counsel review their disclosure

obligations under Brady v. Maryland and it's progeny as set

forth in Local Criminal Rule 5.1 and comply with those

provisions.

The failure to comply can result in dismissal of the 

indictment or information, dismissal of individual charges, 

exclusion of government evidence or witnesses, continuances, 

bar discipline or any other remedy that is just under the 

circumstances.  I'll also be entering a minute order to that 

effect.   

There's a motion for bond review.  The magistrate judge

originally ordered the defendant to be released.  The

government has appealed that ruling to me.  It's the

government's burden.  Mr. Nelson, I'll hear from you.

MR. NELSON:  Thank you, Your Honor.

  I assume that obviously there have been a number of
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pleadings in this matter.  I'll try hard not to repeat those

unless the Court has a specific question as to one of the

factors.

I would note that I think it's telling that between the

defendant's motion for release and his reply brief, there's

something of a theme, if you will.  The first is to make

statements which really aren't supported by the facts, and then

when the government responds with those facts to sort of

retreat, ignore those statements and try to find a new hole in

the government's argument.  

A good example of that actually is the letter filed in

support from Jonathan Goetz which was incomplete and

misleading.  We gave notice of that fact to defense counsel.

And defense counsel nevertheless proffered it as proof that

defendant was not a white supremacist.  

The defense is now admitting, basically, that not 

everything was true in that letter; that some of the things he 

said to NCIS weren't included.  But there's really no 

acknowledgment of the fact that this was proffered; that it's 

not true; or the fact that, you know, frankly, Jonathan Goetz 

is now on administrative leave for making one statement to NCIS 

and making another statement to this Court, and for thinking 

that, you know, somehow he wasn't responsible to tell the whole 

truth to Your Honor.  

And frankly, I think that that's a pretty good metaphor
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for the defense argument in favor of release.  Now I understand

it's our burden.  I think we've met that burden.  But here

again, the defendant contends that the government falsely

accused him of being a white supremacist and a Nazi supporter.

He's got a phone full with pictures of himself with a Hitler

mustache and a panoply of racist and anti-Semitic content.

Much of it has violent undertones.  We submitted a small

sampling of that to Your Honor.  And 34 of his 44 co-workers,

75% or a little more, said look, this is somebody who was

always like this.  Even in uniform.  Even on a naval base.

And the defendant tries to shrug that off and say it's 

just jokes or just words, but Hitler should have finished the 

job is not a joke.  Jews, women and Blacks are at the bottom of 

the totem pole is not a joke.  Referring to people as shit-skin 

minorities is not a joke.   

Saying that if the defendant had been alive during World 

War II, he'd kill all the Jews and eat them for breakfast, 

lunch and dinner and wouldn't need to season them because the 

salt from their tears would make it flavorful enough, is not a 

joke.  It's not a joke by anyone's definition and they're not 

just words.   

In fact, those reports the defendant was unstable or 

viewed as unstable, viewed as crazy, and people were too afraid 

to report him, go directly to the defendant's dangerousness. 

The subsequent notice oh, well, I have a Black roommate
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and, therefore, I can't be a racist -- the defendant lives on a

naval base.  He doesn't choose who he lives with.  And the fact

that the defendant is now saying, oh, well, I served in the

Army Reserve for 11 years so that should tip the scale as to my

history and characteristics in the Bail Reform Act factors --

I think it's important to remember, Your Honor, that the Army

has identified seven core values that are the foundation of

Army service.  Their loyalty, duty, respect, selfless service,

honor, integrity and personal courage.  Those seven core values

were nowhere to be found on January 6th.  They're nowhere to be

found when the defendant is screaming at police officers and

shouting obscenities and flipping the bird.  They're nowhere to

be found when the defendant is storming the Capitol through a

door that a rioter kicked open just a few minutes before, and

then dramatically stomping on the floor and kicking the walls.

There's no duty there.  There's no honor there. There's

certainly no loyalty there.

And so the idea that this is somehow, this Army core

values is who the defendant is, I would submit that that was

just a mask he was wearing.  That's just the job he had.

If he's not going to live up to those ideas at the moment 

when his country needs him the most, then he's certainly got no 

business using them to put a finger on the sail of the Bail 

Reform Act factors here.  Because what the defendant said about 

that incident was that there was no way to describe the 
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adrenaline rush and purpose that he felt other than a civil 

war.  Something he said he wanted to participate in.  Something 

he said that good old boys from the south and the midwest were 

going to prevail in.  I would submit to Your Honor that it's 

pretty clear what the defendant is saying there. 

And that this was the best shot to obtain a clean bill of

health as a society.  These are not just words.  This is an

ideology. This is a belief the defendant has and it makes him a

threat.  And this is a civil war that the defendant discussed

with C.H. his proposed third-party custodian via text message

as early as February 1st of 2020.

THE COURT:  Mr. Nelson, what I'm struggling with

though is agreeing with you about the odiousness of everything

that he said that this does not appear to have translated into

actions prior to January 6th.  And on January 6th he comes in a

suit, not in fatigues.  Now according to your characterization

of what he's done, he's certainly by no means the most

dangerous or culpable person that I'm looking at and I'm sure

your office is looking at on January 6th.  

So I guess I am struggling with this idea of someone who--   

this someone who is just a lot of talk or is this someone who's 

actually a danger to the community such that I need to detain 

him pending trial. 

MR. NELSON:  Well, that's a fair point, Your Honor.

I think that merely looking at his conduct in terms of whether
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or not he actually assaulted anyone on the 6th is one thing

that the Court can consider to determine he's dangerous, but

certainly not the only one.  And the fact that the defendant

has put this, you know, ideology of his into action in the

past.  Granted 2010 is a long time ago, but to be driving

around with a potato gun with white is right written on it,

while carrying a bush dagger, is relevant to this analysis.

THE COURT:  What happened with that arrest, sir?

MR. NELSON:  I believe he was convicted of a lesser

offense.  I know he had a bush dagger in his possession and I

believe it was papered down to a local charge.  Paper down

being a Superior Court charge.  But he was given a plea

agreement.

I know that, for example -- and defense counsel mentioned

this in his pleading as well -- he was arrested in 2011 for

stabbing his mother's boyfriend during a domestic incident.

Again no charges were filed, but certainly telling.  And I'll

concede, Your Honor, that I only just shared this with defense

counsel.  I had been hoping to get verification from Pretrial

Services of some police reports that were filed and whether or

not they resulted in charges.

There were some complaints made against defendant in 

February, March of last year.  All I've been able to find -- 

and I can either submit them to the Court or however the Court 

would like to handle it.  I was able to get copies, photographs 

 1

 2

 3

 4

 5

 6

 7

 8

 9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

9

USCA Case #21-3029      Document #1900276            Filed: 05/27/2021      Page 11 of 67



    10

of police report narratives filed in February, March of 2020 

where people reported the defendant for harassment.   

These were both Jewish individuals who said that the 

defendant posted their name and address online.  Suggested that 

he wasn't scared of people knowing his face; that it would be 

easy to swing by their address and talk to them about their 

differences.  Again, Your Honor, I don't have full information, 

but the fact that those police reports were filed indicate, and 

I think all of this shows frankly, a steady escalation in the 

defendant's behavior. 

THE COURT:  Mr. Nelson, I don't think I actually have

a Pretrial Services report here. Have you access to the

defendant's criminal history?

MR. NELSON:  So I don't have a up-to-date NCIC.  I

only have, frankly, I have the reports from the incident that

the defendant mentioned with the stabbing.  And I have a police

report from the 2010 incident which I've shared with defense

counsel.  I haven't gotten a full Pretrial Services report

either, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  So when you say the potato gun incident

was papered down.  What was the defendant convicted of there?

MR. NELSON:  Your Honor, I don't have the exact

charge.  I only have what was represented to me by law

enforcement which was that it was a municipal offense, and it

was not a weapons charge.  So I'm interpreting that as a
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papering down of the knife charge, but I am relying on hearsay,

candidly, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  Okay.  So another difficulty I'm having

here is I think this may be the first time that I've had a

motion filed under the obstruction justification for release.

But what I hear you talking about is dangerousness and not

really concern about the defendant obstructing justice here.

And indeed it seems to be a little difficult for him to do that

at this point given the obviously, incredibly thorough

investigation that you've carried out and reams of evidence

already in the record as to what happened on January 6th.

MR. NELSON:  Well, I think that they're related, Your

Honor.  Obviously the (f)(2)(a)is the basis; we still have to

argue the factors since there's no presumption.  But I think

the defendant -- the fact that the defendant deleted all of his

social media and this based hermes show is certainly indicative

of an obstructive intent and frankly obstructive conduct. This

case does rest, as the defendant now knows because it's

charged, on a confidential human source.  It would -- the fact

that the defendant is someone who has these beliefs is not in

and of itself certainly grounds for detention, no matter how

odious they may be as the Court properly said.  But the fact

that with those beliefs, there's been an escalation in conduct

and now a statement of expression of a desire to participate in

a civil war at a time when we're having concerns about things
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like that in this country, at a time when the defendant has

really -- like he can't go back to the naval base because he's

been barred.  He's on the verge of being separated from the

army.  And his third-party custodians which he proffers -- one

of which has stated a belief that the New Jersey governor

should be beaten to death and was arrested with the defendant.

The other one has openly joked about racism and white 

supremacy with the defendant.  I don't think that either of 

these people are going to stop the defendant from doing what he 

might otherwise be inclined to do in violation of the Court's 

orders. 

So I think that Your Honor is right.  I was discussing

dangerousness, but I think that this is all tied in with the

fact that the defendant is -- it is not clear that there's

going to be anything to keep the defendant from violating

pretrial conditions if the Court finds them.  And we submit

that frankly the concern about obstruction and the concern

about violence indicate that release conditions would be

inappropriate.

THE COURT:  Are you saying that you have concerns

about the safety of the confidential source?

MR. NELSON:  Yes.

THE COURT:  Okay.  Anything else Mr. Nelson?

MR. NELSON:  No, Your Honor, thank you.

THE COURT:  All right, Mr. Zucker.
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MR. ZUCKER:  Judge, I also don't want to repeat

everything that's been in the pleadings.  They've been long and

frankly very thorough.  But I think the Court's questioning

indicates that the Court hits the nail right on the head.

Pretrial detention is to be reserved under the statute.  It's

only for those people whose release poses an imminent threat of

danger or failure to appear.  The government is not really

arguing failure to appear.

So the question is, is there an imminent threat of danger?  

Are there no series of conditions of release that we could 

impose that would comfortably assure the Court that the 

defendant will not be a danger.  And by being a danger, I mean 

harming other people. 

With all due respect to Mr. Nelson, that's where the

government's pleadings fall short.  Because you have a guy who

is 31 years old and never been accused of assaulting anybody in

his life.  Never committed an act of violence in connection

with this offense.  And never done anything subsequent to this

offense.

To go back over the history a little bit; Mr. Nelson makes 

reference to the defendant being arrested with a potato gun and 

what happened with that case.  Factually that occurred -- I 

think he was 19 or 20 years old when that occurred, and he was 

with somebody else who had something called a potato gun, which 

I've never heard of before.  But apparently it's something -- 
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some kind of pneumatic device.   

I've handled well over a 100 homicides in my career and 

none of them involved a potato done.  I've never had an AWIK 

with a potato gun.  It shoots a potato.  Wherein this case, he 

was accused of shooting frozen pieces of corn.  But it wasn't  

even in the possession of this man.  It was in the possession 

of the co-defendant.  My understanding which is also based on 

hearsay like Mr. Nelsons, is that he pled to a disorderly 

conduct and the whole case was done away with that. 

Yes, he may have had a knife on him when he was 19 or 20

years old, but there's no allegation that he ever used it on

anybody or ever tried to stab anybody in his entire life.  

The other incident that we disclosed for the Court was he 

was arrested one time.  And we disclosed it in the context of 

saying he's not a risk of flight.  I spoke with his lawyer in 

New Jersey.  He did have a charge pending and he made all of 

his appearances in that case.  So he made his appearances 

there. There's no reason to believe he won't make his 

appearances here.  In that case, yes he stabbed his mother's 

then boyfriend.  And the charge -- the case was not indicted by 

the grand jury.  According to the lawyer, the evidence was that 

the boyfriend was drunk and beating up the mother, and severely 

had injured her, and he came to his mother's defense.  And that 

because there was a defense of mother's charge -- I'm sorry.  

Such clear evidence of defense of another, I don't if the case 
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was dismissed by the prosecution without -- well, it definitely 

was dismissed without an indictment.  I don't know if it was 

because the grand jurors voted against it or the prosecution 

chose to dismiss it.   

But all of that is a long way around of saying there's no 

allegation in this man's history that he's ever done anything 

violent to injure another person that warrants his detention.  

That's who detention is designed for.  It not only doesn't fit 

this man's profile and it's unwarranted here. 

I certainly on a personal level may share Mr. Nelson's

concern about anti-Semitic and racist comments.  We don't

support them.  We don't endorse them obviously.  To the extent

Mr. Hale-Cusanelli may have made them, you know, that's

certainly nothing to be held -- to hold him in great esteem.

And we might feel repugnant.  We might feel they're

reprehensible, but frankly if he did make them, they are. But

we don't detain people because they have beliefs that we

disagree with.  We don't detain people because we have beliefs

that we consider repugnant.  We detain them based on

dangerousness.  And he simply doesn't present a danger to the

community as is implicit in the Court's questioning. He hasn't

hurt anybody.  He didn't hurt anybody on January 6th.  The

government has hundreds of hours of tape from January 6th and

they've gone through them thoroughly.  And they've shown us

what they have of Mr. Hale-Cusanelli on January 6th and there's
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no indication he ever tried to strike anybody.  No indication

that he ever planned or conspired with anybody else to strike

anybody.

The Court through it's questioning has obviously -- has

read the pleadings.  And I'm assuming one we filed last night.

I regret that it was so late.

THE COURT:  Yes, I have, thank you.

MR. ZUCKER:  But other people came to this

demonstration in combat gear.  He went out and bought a suit

and tie and came that way.  He wasn't coming here for violence.

He didn't commit violence and he left without any violence.  He

simply is not a dangerous person by his actions and he deserves

the benefit of being released pending trial.  If he is

convicted of these offenses, obviously there's going to be

punishment to be paid.  But we don't preventively detain people

because they have beliefs that we find repugnant.

And regarding the statements about Mr. Goetz, I'm frankly

surprised.  I didn't know he was put on administrative leave.

I think it's probably unwarranted.  But there really is not

much of an inconsistency between those statements.  The

government is trying to paint it like Goetz was -- Goetz, the

Court is aware from the pleadings, was his supervising --

Sergeant Goetz is his supervisor on the security force at the

naval base.  Goetz in his letter to the Court said that he does

not consider Mr. Hale-Cusanelli dangerous.  And he's never seen
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him be violent.  We stand by that.

Yes, did he omit that he was a white supremist?  Well, for 

purposes of bond we didn't ask him that question.  Or I didn't 

ask him any questions.  Whoever prepared the letter, he didn't 

think that was particularly relevant because the issues before 

the Court is dangerousness and violence and he addressed those 

issues and he has not recanted, and his statement is not 

inconsistent in that regards no matter what the government 

said. 

I note that by way of -- if there's anybody, if there's

any situation in which we expect somebody who has violent

proclivities to act, it would have been during January 6th.

There was violence abundant.  You've seen the tapes as we all

have.  There were fights between police and demonstrators and

Mr. Cusanelli was right in the middle of that and didn't strike

anyone.  The government would have let us know if they had.

They've interviewed 44 people, 34 of whom have said he's a 

white supremist or made comments like that.  They certainly 

weren't people who were holding their tongues to protect him.  

And apparently, not once in those 44 people did anybody make an 

allegation that he was ever violent or aggressive or attacked 

anyone. 

He spent 11 years in military reserves.  There hasn't been

a single instance where he's been accused of acting

inappropriately or violently or attacking anyone.  He spent the
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last I forget how many years as a security officer.  He wears a

gun every day at work that he's issued at work.  There's never

been an allegation that he's ever acted improperly with any of

that.

THE COURT:  Mr. Zucker, what do I do with the

suggestions that people were afraid to turn him in?

MR. ZUCKER:  Well, I would credit those, but being

afraid to turn somebody in, to make allegations about him being

an anti-Semitic or a racist is because you don't want to have

to deal with the reaction.  It doesn't mean -- because you're

afraid to call somebody out as being a racist, doesn't mean

that you're physically afraid of them.

It could be that you just don't want to deal with the 

reaction of making what would be a comment that would hold them 

up to great ridicule.  I would, frankly, be very offended if 

somebody accused me of being a racist or being an anti-Semitic.  

And I probably would react in an aggressive hostile way, but I 

wouldn't be violent.  And they wouldn't want to have to deal 

with that reaction.   

I think that the fact that co-workers don't want to have 

to deal with that kind of emotional reaction is perfectly 

understandable, but that doesn't mean that they were saying 

he's physically violent.  That doesn't mean I'm fearful for my 

physical safety.  That's not what they -- we don't know exactly 

what they said.  They said they didn't want to deal with the 
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consequences.  They were afraid of reporting him because they 

considered him unstable.  It's understandable that somebody who 

expresses those kinds of beliefs is likely unstable.  But that 

doesn't mean that they're violent.   

I mean he's had 31 years on the planet and he's never been 

accused of committing a violent offense against anybody except 

for the one we talked about where either the grand jurors, the 

prosecutors, found it was self-defense or defense of another 

and warranted. 

  So given what he's been through and given the situations

as a security officer, as a military person, all of the

situations he's been in, the fact that he's never reacted

inappropriately, violently, aggressively or hurt anybody

balanced against the fact that he has or has expressed beliefs

that are morally repugnant, we still have to give him what the

law requires us to give him, which is the benefit of doubt that

he's not violent, he hasn't committed a crime and it's

improbable he will commit a violent offense if he's released

because he's never done it in the past.  

I think that's basically it.  Is there anything else the 

Court wants me to respond to?  Wait, I'm sorry, one other 

thing. 

THE COURT:  Yes, sir.

MR. ZUCKER:  Yes, he was in military housing.  Well,

it was on a naval base, so I'm not sure it was military
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housing.  He can't return there.  But he does have resources

and Ms. Wright has said she's in a position to pay two or three

months, rent on an apartment for him.  He does have a job.  If

he can't return to HBC, he does have a job.

I'm hearing different things about the military.  I've 

heard that although there's something pending as a reservist, 

his superior officer still wants him to drill and to train with 

them.  So I don't think he's been formally discharged.  

Although I expect that's a likely outcome of this. 

  So, anyway, he does have a way to support himself.  And

he is viable.  Of course, we're not opposed to the equivalent

of his being monitored by the local courts.  If he does

anything in violation of any curfew or if he's anywhere where a

crime is committed, the Court will have that.  As the rule is

with anybody with HISP.

THE COURT:  Mr. Zucker, you probably know every judge

is afraid of releasing somebody who then goes and does

something crazy.  There's a lot in here that makes me worried

about that.

MR. ZUCKER:  I understand the concern.  And I know

the last thing you want is for somebody who has been released

to go out there and commit some kind of heinous act.  But those

are the chances we take unless it's an unwarranted risk.  I

mean a past is pro-log here.  He's never done anything like

that in the past.  He certainly has an opportunity.  He has a
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gun in his hand five days a week and he's never abused that

power.  So why in the world would we think he would do it now

when nothing has changed.  If anything, I expect, and this is

not just for Mr. Hale-Cusanelli, but what I'm seeing generally

with people charged in this case, they've become very

disillusioned with what the consequences of their having acted.

Basically feeling like they've been duped into the activities

on January 6th.  I don't think we want to get into a whole

political argument about that; whether or not they were duped

by the President.  But there certainly is a disassociation by

him and others generally with this whole stop the steal

movement.  So if anything, I think that it's less probable now

than it would have been on January 6th.

But even on January 6 in the heat of battle, this man

didn't lose his head.  He didn't hit anybody.  He didn't strike

anybody.  I understand the Court's concern.  But the law

creates a presumption in favor of release with reasonable

conditions.  And there's no reason to believe that this man is

deserving of preventive detention.

THE COURT:  All right.  Mr. Nelson, you get the last

word.

MR. NELSON:  Thank you, Your Honor.  I will be brief.

I've known Mr. Zucker for awhile and he's obviously a very

good lawyer.  And he's doing a good job for his client.  But we

have a number of these defendants, and I'm not standing before
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Your Honor or any other judge in our court asking you to hold

them.  The fact is that this is a man who proudly walked around

with a Hitler mustache, espousing Nazi ideology.  Who ignored

every oath he took on behalf of the United States Army, stormed

the Capitol, then went home and talked about how excited he was

by it and how he wanted to participate in a civil war.

I just don't agree with Mr. Zucker how ever much I may 

respect him that we have to wait for him to take an affirmative 

act in furtherance of that desire before we can say that he's 

dangerous.  I think that everything in the defendant's phone, 

everything in the defendant's demeanor, everything in the way 

that he carried himself, suggests that his ideology has 

escalated.  His acting on that ideology has escalated.  And 

that if released to the community now, having lost -- he may 

have access to a new job; he may have access to a new house; 

but he's lost everything he's worked for in the first 30 years 

of his life.  To suggest that he is not going to be inclined to 

take any further action on those beliefs or that ideology, I 

think is naive.   

I think that he does -- the Bail Reform Act factors do 

weigh in favor of detention.  They may not weigh 

overwhelmingly, but they do weigh in favor of detention, Your 

Honor, and I think that is appropriate. 

MR. ZUCKER:  Judge, can I respond to one point?

THE COURT:  Sure.
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MR. ZUCKER:  I should have said this earlier.  In

relation to the confidential human source, we have no objection

to a protective order.  We're pretty sure we know who it is or

Mr. Hale-Cusanelli is pretty sure he knows who it is.  It's

somebody he's been friends with.  I guess I probably -- it's

somebody he's known for a long time and they have a very close

relationship.  And there's no problem staying away.  And we'll

abide by a protective order.  That person is, if it's who we're

pretty sure it is, it's a colleague from the military who is

certainly capable of calling the authorities if

Mr. Hale-Cusanelli ever presents anything in the way of a

threat.  But there's no reason to believe he would have any --

he would attack this person.

THE COURT:  All right.

MR. ZUCKER:  And we can protect him with a protective

order.

THE COURT:  Before the Court is the defendant's

motion for modification of bond to place the defendant on

conditional release pending trial.

As I said, the magistrate judge initially ordered the 

defendant to be released.  The Chief Judge at the defendant's 

(sic) request, stayed that release pending my review.  I'm 

doing that review now under the statute, a de novo review. 

This comes on the government's motion to detain the

defendant pending trial under 18 U.S.C. 3142(f)(2).  There is
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no rebuttable presumption in this case suggesting that

detention would apply, in fact, as the defense points out.

There is a general legal presumption against detention pending

trial for anybody.

The government must show by clear and convincing evidence

that no condition or combination of conditions of release will

reasonably assure the safety of any other person and the

community.  The government has sought detention under the legal

basis of 3142, I believe it's (f)(2)(B), that the defendant

shows a serious risk; that such person will obstruct or attempt

to obstruct justice or threaten, injure or intimidate or

attempt to threaten, injure or intimidate a prospective witness

or a juror.

Under the Bail Reform Act, I need to consider four

factors.  One, the nature and circumstances of the offense.

Two, the weight of the evidence.  Three, the defendant's

history and characteristics.  And four, the danger to the

community.

First, looking at the nature and circumstances of the 

offense.  I'm not going to reiterate everything that the 

government has said about what happened on January 6th that I 

don't really understand the defense to be disagreeing with at 

least for purposes of today's hearing.  Obviously, the January 

6th riot was a serious and sui generis threat to our country's 

body politic.   
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The defendant, according to the government's evidence, 

participated, was there, entered the Capitol Building via some 

scaffolding.  He also, according to the government, admits to 

using hand signals and directing people into the Capitol 

Building. 

In my mind, this factor weighs in favor of release for the

defendant, but just slightly.  I think the defendant -- there's

no evidence that the defendant committed any violence or

obstruction of property while he was there.  He also, as the

defense points out, apparently wore a suit there.  Certainly

not suggesting that he was coming armed for battle, but more

for a rally or a protest.

Nonetheless, I am concerned by his admissions that he

urged people to advance.  This certainly -- it sounds like

regardless of his intentions going to the Capitol on January

6th, by the time he got there he took it upon himself to

encourage others to essentially storm the Capitol Building and

enter it despite police presence, tear gas, fences and what

have you.

The second factor is the weight of the evidence.  I think

that factor does weigh for detention in this case.  I think

that the weight of the evidence, as far as I can tell, appears

to be overwhelming; that the defendant did what the government

says that he did on January 6th.

The third factor is the defendant's history and
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characteristics.  This is the most difficult prong in this

case, as far as I'm concerned.  As the defense has indicated,

he has no criminal history.  It sounds like possibly he has a

disorderly conduct conviction, but certainly nothing like the

criminal history of most defendants that I detain in this

courthouse.  He was employed.  He was a military veteran with a

secrecy clearance.  And while I understand the government's

concern about the defendant's apparent violation of his oaths

and obligations as a member of the military, I think

nonetheless it appears that he had various positions of trust

with the government for some years and, therefore, is again

somebody who is very unlike most defendants that I see being

detained.  That all speaks in his favor.

However, I'm very concerned about the well-documented 

history of racist and violent language here.  I'm not going to 

repeat everything that is in the government's submissions and 

that the prosecutor has pointed to, but I think there is 

substantial evidence here that for a number of years the 

defendant has apparently had kind of a neo-Nazi racist ideology 

that has led him to use racist language, sexist language, and 

has been generally engaged in hateful conduct, if not 

necessarily violent conduct toward a number of people with whom 

he's had contact.   

The government has, as I said, done a pretty extensive 

investigation, interviewing 44 of his co-workers.  And a number 
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of them were aware of his racist language and certainly the 

language here goes beyond just being racist, but suggesting 

violence towards people who are not like Mr. Hale-Cusanelli. 

The language is repugnant and very concerning.   

Having said all of that, we don't typically penalize 

people for what they say or think.  I think for purposes of my 

analysis, I need to -- I'm trying to figure out whether this 

well-documented history of violent and racist language does 

suggest that the defendant poses a danger to the community. 

I also do take note of this arrest where the defendant was

arrested with a potato gun with white is right emblazoned on it

and found to have a bush dagger in his possession at the time

of his arrest.  Apparently, he was not convicted of a weapons

offense, just a lesser misdemeanor.  However, and I also note

this was apparently when he was a teenager, but this is

concerning given it is suggestive.  A, that this kind of

neo-Nazi beliefs -- he's harbored these for a number of years,

but it is some evidence of the defendant actually acting out on

this, that this is not just language but actually action.

I appreciate the defense bringing to my attention the

domestic violence case.  I don't believe that case, which was

ultimately dismissed, would justify detention in any way.

The fourth factor is the defendant's danger to the

community.  I do believe this weighs in favor of detention.  I

am concerned about all of the violent language that I
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previously mentioned.

I am very concerned about the statements the prosecutor 

pointed to after January 6th suggesting that the defendant is 

looking forward to a civil war.  I am very concerned about his 

statement to the confidential source suggesting that the tree 

of liberty needs to be watered with the blood of patriots from 

time to time; that of course was a quote from Thomas Jefferson.  

But for the Bail Reform Act analysis, it is highly troubling.   

I also note the government's evidence that the defendant 

appears to have surrounded himself, to a certain extent anyway, 

with people who have encouraged this behavior and people who 

may even agree with him.  And I agree with the government's 

concern regarding potential escalation of violence at this 

point given all that has occurred.  And I am concerned for the 

safety of the confidential human source.  I think given all of 

the facts here in the government's motion, I mention it is 

pretty obvious to the defendant anyway who this person is.  And 

I am concerned given all of the defendants -- all of the things 

he said in the past about committing violence against those who 

he feels are pitted against him.  And given the sum evidence 

that the defendant has been willing to put these thoughts into 

action in the past, I think I do have a duty to protect that 

confidential source. 

I think this is a close case in terms of the government

meeting its burden under the Bail Reform Act, but I do believe
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that ultimately the government has met the factors laid out in

the Bail Reform Act and, therefore, I will hold the defendant

pending trial, finding that no condition or combinations of

conditions will assure the safety of the community if I release

the defendant pending trial.

For all of those reasons, I'll deny the defendant's motion

to modify conditions of release and overrule the magistrate

judge's order of release pending trial.

Mr. Nelson, where do things stand in terms of discovery

and the next steps here?

MR. NELSON:  Yes, Your Honor.  We've been able to

turn over some discovery to defense counsel that has consisted

of sort of a small portion of the defendant's cell phone

extraction.  It's just been too large to provide the defendant

through USAfx.  There are obviously a number of videos we have

to disclose.  We put still shots in our pleadings, but the

videos themselves have to be disclosed, and they are also quite

large and subject to a protective order.  So I need to talk to

Mr. Zucker about how to best go about that.

I do think that some time is warranted to make that 

happen.  I would defer to Mr. Zucker as to time and also to the 

Court.  I don't want to give the suggestion that I'm trying to 

drag this out.  Given that the defendant is detained, we want 

to proceed apace.  But I think that 60 days should give us 

plenty of time to get the discovery over, make a plea offer, 
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and give the defense time to review that with his client.  But 

if Mr. Zucker wants a shorter period of time before our next 

meeting, I won't object to that. 

MR. ZUCKER:  I would, Judge.  Regarding discovery,

this is an ongoing problem.  I'm on my way to your office in

another case.  I've dropped off a hard drive.  We can do the

same thing; you can download it onto that.

What my recommendation would be is that we put it out for 

30 days, recognizing that it's a high probability you might get 

a consent motion from both of us to continue it for another 15 

to 30 days.  Because I think it's improbable we could get 

everything done in those 30 days.  Nonetheless, I don't want 

Mr. Hale-Cusanelli lingering.  If we make some progress in 30 

days great, if not, we'll probably do a consent motion to 

continue for another 15 to 30, so that's agreeable. 

THE COURT:  I'm fine with that.  I'll just say as the

attorneys may know in general, I'm very interested in moving

all of my cases along and certainly criminal detained cases I

think we should all be making an effort to reach a quick

resolution on them whether by trial or some other means.

It seems to me government has done significant 

investigations so far in this case and has a lot of evidence.  

So I'm willing to give a little bit of time to hand that 

evidence over, but I would expect that at our next time 

together we're going to know which direction this case is 
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going.  And if there's -- Mr. Hale-Cusanelli is not interested 

in pleading guilty, which of course is completely his right, I 

want to look to set up a quick trial date.  So let's plan to 

come with the calendars next time. 

How about Tuesday -- Ms. Chaclan, maybe you can check the

jail's calendar for Wednesday, April 28.

THE DEPUTY CLERK:  I'll check, Judge.

MR. ZUCKER:  The 28th is fine here, Judge if it's

available to the jail.

THE DEPUTY CLERK:  I'm just confirming, Your Honor,

is that Wednesday, April 28th?

THE COURT:  Yes.

THE DEPUTY CLERK:  Okay, there is availability in the

morning.

THE COURT:  Okay, does 10 a.m. work for you, Mr.

Nelson?

MR. NELSON:  It does, Your Honor, thank you.

THE COURT:  And, Mr. Zucker?

MR. ZUCKER:  Fine, anytime.

THE COURT:  Okay, so we'll set this for a video

status conference on Wednesday, April 28th.  Obviously, if

there's been an agreement the parties have reached before that

as to disposition, the parties can send me paperwork

beforehand.  We can certainly convert that to a plea hearing.

If the parties agree that they need a bit more time, I welcome
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Mr. Zucker's suggestion for a brief continuance.  And otherwise

I think we'd be looking at trial dates.

Mr. Nelson, do you have a motion? 

MR. NELSON:  Your Honor, I would move to exclude the

Speedy Trial Act time between now and then just for the need to

get the defendant up to speed on the discovery.

THE COURT:  Mr. Zucker?

MR. ZUCKER:  Given the complexity of the case, I

recommend to Mr. Hale-Cusanelli that we waive speedy trial

between now and then.  There's a lot of material to cover.

THE COURT:  I think it is appropriate to waive the

speedy trial clock until April 28th in light of the extensive

discovery that needs to be disclosed here.

Mr. Nelson --

MR. ZUCKER:  I'm sorry, Judge, I got the date.  I

didn't get the time.

THE COURT:  10 a.m.

MR. ZUCKER:  Thank you.

THE COURT:  April 28th.  Mr. Nelson, anything further

for the government?

MR. NELSON:  No, Your Honor, thank you.

THE COURT:  And, Mr. Zucker?

MR. ZUCKER:  Nothing, thank you.  I would ask, if

available through the courtroom clerk, if you're able to leave

Mr. Hale-Cusanelli and I in a lockout room.  I don't know if
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they've got another hearing after us and they can't, but if

it's available I'd like to talk with him on screen after

everybody else has gone.

THE DEPUTY CLERK:  They do block off in the calendar

at 12, but I can create the breakout room.

MR. ZUCKER:  Until 12, that'll give us five minutes,

thank you.

THE COURT:  Great.  I neglected to mention.  Both

attorneys I thought you did a nice job in that debriefing and

arguing.  That motion, that's a tough issue and I thought both

sides did a nice job of presenting the arguments to their

respective clients.  Thanks, folks.

MR. NELSON:  Thank you, Your Honor.

MR. ZUCKER:  Thanks, Judge.  Be well.

     (Video conference adjourned at 11:55 a.m.)
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CERTIFICATE 

I, Crystal M. Pilgrim, Official Court Reporter, certify 

that the foregoing is a true and accurate transcript, to the 

best of my ability, of the proceedings remotely reported in the 

above-entitled matter. 

Please Note: This hearing occurred during the COVID-19 

pandemic and is, therefore, subject to the technological 

limitations of court reporting remotely.  

 

_____________________________________     ___________________ 
/s/Crystal M. Pilgrim, RPR, FCRR, RMR     Date:  May 17, 2021 
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P-R-O-C-E-E-D-I-N-G-S 

THE DEPUTY CLERK:  Your Honor, this is criminal case,

21-37 United States of America versus Timothy Louis

Hale-Cusanelli.  Counsel, please introduce yourselves for the

record, starting with the government.

MR. NELSON:  Good morning, Your Honor, Jim Nelson and

Kathryn Fifield for the United States.  Ms. Fifield will be

taking my place after today.

THE COURT:  Good morning, folks.

MR. ZUCKER:  Good morning, Judge.  John Zucker and

Peter Wright on behalf of Defendant Cusanelli. Let the record

reflect he's appearing by video, thank you.

     THE DEFENDANT:  Good morning, sir. 

THE COURT:  Good morning, gentlemen, and good

morning, Mr. Cusanelli.  Mr. Zucker, have you had an

opportunity to talk to your client about proceeding virtually

for purposes of today's hearing?

MR. ZUCKER:  Yes, we consent, Judge.

THE COURT:  I think it is appropriate to proceed in

this fashion in light of the pandemic and the provisions in the

CARES Act.

Before the Court is the defendant's motion for

reconsideration of bond and to place the defendant on

conditional release pending trial.  The Court previously
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ordered the defendant held without bail pending trial.

The defense primarily relies on the D.C. Circuit's recent

decision in United States v. Munchel, 991 F.3d 1273, and to a

lesser extent a suggestion that the confidential source may

have moved out of the area since my original ruling.

I've reviewed the parties' thoughtful briefings and I'm

going to deny the motion to reconsider.  In my mind -- well,

Munchel also was a Capitol riot case.  The district court there

really relied on the nature and circumstances of the case for

its erroneous decision to detain the defendant in that case.

And I'm looking to page 1282 of the circuit's opinion which

says the crux of the district court's reasoning was that the

grand jury alleged that the appellants used force to subvert a

democratic election and arrest the peaceful transfer of power.

Such conduct threatens the republic itself; indeed few offenses

are more threatening to our way of life.

The circuit believed that the trial court in that case did

not properly consider that event as a one-off event in light of

everything else that was known about the defendants.  And also

that the defendants did not participate in any violence in the

January 6th case.

In contrast, in my ruling I actually found that the nature

and circumstances of the offense probably tilted toward

release.  Given that as defense points out, there's no

allegations of violence by the defendant here.
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I did note that it was certainly a serious incident and I

was concerned that the defendant apparently had admitted to

urging people to advance, but nonetheless I found that that

factor was not one that tilted toward detention.  Rather, I

primarily relied on the evidence of the defendant's danger to

the community based on the extensive submissions from the

government regarding the defendant's comments about people of

different races, of different religions.

To a certain extent, the fact that he had been apparently 

convicted on a relatively minor charge, but where he had a 

potato gun that he was using to shoot houses that said white is 

right.  And in short, I was concerned and remain to be 

concerned that the defendant bears real animus against groups 

of people in this country; and that this has been to a certain 

extent carried out in a dangerous conduct in the past in light 

of that case from several years ago, but that his conduct in 

this case made me concerned that he was perhaps looking to act 

on these violent tendencies and violent comments in the past. 

So I think that this case is very different and while

obviously they're both January 6th cases, I think my reasoning

was on a very different basis than the basis of the district

court in the Munchel case.

I will say that if I was just looking at what the 

defendant did on January 6th, he would be a free man right now. 

It's rather looking at the totality of the circumstances and 
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the evidence of what the defendant has said and done in the 

past, combined with his alleged involvement in the January 6th 

riot and the evidence that he might have been urging people to 

advance that really concerned me here. 

I also I don't find that the possibility that the

confidential source may have moved to be a sufficient

justification to now release the defendant.  The defense

indicates that he knows that person well.  If that's correct,

he may well know where the person has moved. The person may

well have moved back.  I don't think that is a reason to let

the defendant out now.

So for all of those reasons and for the reasons more

specifically that I gave in my original oral ruling, I'm

denying the motion for reconsideration.

Mr. Nelson, where do things stand in the case?

MR. NELSON:  Yes, Your Honor.  The defense counsel

provided me with a hard drive to load certain information,

discovery on to that was too much to transfer it another way.

That is complete and the hard drive can be provided to defense

counsel going forward.  As the Court is likely aware, Ms.

Fifield as substitution counsel is taking my place and is

probably in a better position to speak going forward.  But it

is my understanding that as with all of these cases we are now

working through, the process was developed to cover all of the

electronic evidence from the Capitol.  We are now working
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through that process, but candidly Ms. Fifield is in a better

position to inform the Court as to how that relates to this

particular defendant.

THE COURT:  Okay, Ms. Fifield do you want to pick up

from there?

MS. FIFIELD:  Thank you, Your Honor.  Just having

come on board and given the efforts to provide defense counsel

with some preliminary discovery, I'm comfortable now moving

forward with the, our office is calling it fast track

discovery, which is the program through which we're putting

together all of the electronic evidence and all of the common

evidence in the Capitol riot cases.  And I can get that process

rolling very shortly.

THE COURT:  Okay.  

MS. FIFIELD:  I can't speak to -- pardon me, Your

Honor.  I can't speak to the total amount of time that it will

take to put that together not having gone through it before,

but we can get it started.  

THE COURT:  All right, I think at the last hearing I

understood that a plea offer was going to be provided this

month.  Has that happened?

MS. FIFIELD:  No, Your Honor, I have not provided an

offer.

THE COURT:  Okay, what's going on there?

MR. NELSON:  Your Honor, candidly I think that -- and
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this is on me frankly.  I think as the transition was happening

that sort of slipped through the cracks a little bit. I will

communicate with Ms. Fifield and defense counsel today to make

sure that all of the parties are in connection, and so that

Ms. Fifield is not left -- not being sure of what we

communicated about and defense counsel is on board, in the

know, sort of, our internal processes and basically connect all

of the dots.  I apologize to the Court.

THE COURT:  Okay, I don't think I'm understanding

this though.  I doubt you are making the final decision on a

plea offer.  I've been told in multiple cases that plea offers

were going to be coming out this month; is that incorrect?

MR. NELSON:  No, that in and of itself is not

incorrect, Your Honor.  We have received authority to begin

initiating certain plea agreements.  Separate and apart from

this, I may have misunderstood the Court.  I had spoken with

Mr. Zucker about the parameters of a potential plea in this

case early on in the case.  When Your Honor mentioned that,

that is sort of where my mind went.  I don't think I had that

conversation with Ms. Fifield.

But in terms of plea agreements going out this month in 

these cases, that is correct.  And that will happen in this 

case as well. 

THE COURT:  Okay, well I take it that means in the

next couple of days.
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I'll hear from Mr. Zucker in a moment, but this is a

detained defendant and I'm inclined to honor any requests from

him to move quickly toward trial.  So the government can make a

plea offer, it cannot; that's obviously entirely up to you, but

I'm not going to wait for that.

Ms. Fifield, what are you requesting?

MS. FIFIELD:  Your Honor, I have not spoken to

defense counsel regarding timing for moving forward and I heard

the Court's desire to move forward quickly.  I would want to

speak with Mr. Nelson, then also defense counsel.  In terms of

discovery, there's been coordination that would need to happen.

And so I would request 30 days for a continued status with the

possibility that the Court could put a hearing on the calendar

sooner once we have those conversations.

THE COURT:  All right, Mr. Zucker?  

MR. ZUCKER:  Your Honor, thank you. I request an

earlier date only because, with all due respect to both

prosecutors -- I know Mr. Nelson, he's been an honest straight

shooter -- but I've heard that the discovery has been loaded

onto a disk, then -- and then I've heard from Ms. Fifield that

discovery will be prepared.  I'm just trying to figure out what

in the world is going on.

I think from what Mr. Nelson said we can pick up the disk 

today.  I think he's shaking his head yes or tomorrow, but we'd 

like to get started on that. 

 1

 2

 3

 4

 5

 6

 7

 8

 9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

42

USCA Case #21-3029      Document #1900276            Filed: 05/27/2021      Page 44 of 67



     9

  And I find I don't want to wait 30 days.  I would rather

set it in for two weeks.  At the end of two weeks if progress

is being made and there's a consent to put it off for another

two weeks, I assume the Court would perceive that well, just a

communication from counsel.  But with all due respect, we've

had a lot of stagnation here.  

And I know it's not from lack of diligence on the part of 

the prosecutors.  I know this is a massive, massive 

undertaking, but the man was arrested in January and we still 

don't have any discovery to speak of.  We just kind of have the 

disclosures and the motions. 

THE COURT:  Yes, I'm kind of surprised myself.  I'm

happy to look at trial dates if you like Mr. Zucker.  I've got

a couple recent openings, otherwise it's going to be in the

fall.

MR. ZUCKER:  I tell you what, I don't want to be

disingenuous with the Court.  I appreciate you offering us a

trial date that's fairly soon and that you are seeking to

protect the client's speedy trial rights.  But given the

magnitude of this case, I can't imagine that we would be ready

for trial very quickly.  So if you want -- if you want to give

us a date that we can reserve, with the knowledge that I think

is a high expectation we would seek to continue it based on the

massive quantity of materials involved, I'm amenable to that.

I'm also frankly optimistic that there'll be a

 1

 2

 3

 4

 5

 6

 7

 8

 9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

43

USCA Case #21-3029      Document #1900276            Filed: 05/27/2021      Page 45 of 67



    10

disposition.  There's no secret the government has a lot of

evidence here.  And certain things, in those kind of cases,

tend to lean towards resolution.  We've been waiting for one

and depending on what it is, we might be able to have one.  I

guess I'm talking out both sides of my mouth.

I guess what I'm suggesting is if you want to give us a 

trial date that you suggest could be available, with the 

understanding that there's a high probability I would move to 

continue it, that's fine. 

THE COURT:  Yes, I don't like doing that.  Let's come

back in two weeks.  And I'm going to expect that the government

intends to make a plea offer.  If it's made by that point,

perhaps we can take a plea at that point if that's what

Mr. Hale-Cusanelli wants to do.  Obviously, that's entirely up

to him.  If not, we should start talking kind of more

realistically about trial dates.

Ms. Fifield, I understand you're just coming to the case, 

but within two weeks I hope you'll be in a position to give us 

a little further clarity on where things stand with the case 

and what we can realistically do. 

I typically look to do one, maybe two, status conferences

and then pick trial dates.  I recognize these cases are

unusual, but the attorney general has also assured all of us

that these are his top priority.  So I'm sure you're putting

whatever resources you need to to ensure they are dealt with
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correctly.

How about Tuesday, I'm sorry, Wednesday, May 12th 10 a.m.?  

Ms. Fifield, does that work for you? 

MS. FIFIELD:  Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  And, Mr. Zucker?

MR. ZUCKER:  I'm sorry, can you repeat that, Judge,

the date?

THE COURT:  Yes, Wednesday, May 12th.

MR. ZUCKER:  That's fine.

THE COURT:  I'll see the parties on Wednesday, May

12th at 10 a.m.  I'll do a virtual status conference.

Ms. Fifield, do you have a motion? 

MS. FIFIELD:  I'm sorry, Your Honor, would you mind

providing some clarification.

MR. ZUCKER:  Speedy trial.

THE COURT:  Are you asking --

MS. FIFIELD:  Yes, my apologies.  Your Honor, the

government would ask the Court to exclude -- continue this and

exclude time from the speedy trial, make a finding that it's in

the interest of justice and the public.

THE COURT:  On what basis?

MS. FIFIELD:  To exclude time given the voluminous

discovery, the unique aspects of this case; and the government

and defense counsel need to diligently prepare and the

government needs to comply with its discovery obligations.
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THE COURT:  Mr. Zucker.

MR. ZUCKER:  In all candor, Judge, I haven't

discussed that with Mr. Hale-Cusanelli.  I'm inclined to oppose

it only to keep the pedal to the metal to try and get discovery

in this case.  But I think -- isn't the Chief Judge's order

still in place?  They can't move, that everything is safe.

THE COURT:  I'm not sure about that.  I think,

regardless, I need to make a specific finding in each case.

Regardless of the defendant's position, at this point, I'll

assume that you're opposing.  I am going to grant a motion to

toll until the 12th in light of the significant discovery

that's going over and to a lesser extent on the basis of the

change in personnel for the prosecutor.  But I'm not going to

hold it up for a plea offer.  And I do think we're coming to

the point here where the tolling needs to stop.

All right.  Anything further today, Ms. Fifield? 

MS. FIFIELD:  Nothing from the government, Your

Honor.

THE COURT:  And, Mr. Zucker?

MR. ZUCKER:  Your Honor, I'm actually looking at

Mr. Hale-Cusanelli.  I know he wants to address the Court

regarding bond, but you've already ruled. I don't know if he

still wants to address the Court.

I had told him if he addresses the Court, I want him to 

stay away from anything connected with January 6th.  Again, I 
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don't know if he wants to address you still, now, considering 

that the motion has already been ruled on, it seems kind of  

moot, but I don't want to step on his toes if he does.   

Mr. Hale-Cusanelli, we can't hear you. 

THE DEFENDANT:  Yeah, Mr. Zucker, Your Honor, what I

had intended to speak on was regarding certain categories that

were ruled against me regarding my character that I feel were

not correctly represented last time to provide a different

context for things.  But your ruling has already been made,

Your Honor, and I'm not going to squabble about it at this

point.

THE COURT:  Thank you, sir.  Obviously, I have what I

have before me for a bail determination.  Character also

matters a lot and your history and characteristics, if and when

it comes time for sentencing.  And if we are at that point, I

certainly would give you an opportunity to speak and present

any evidence that you wish that may provide context or

undermine what the government has alleged.

  All right.  Thanks, folks.  See you in a couple of

weeks.  

MR. ZUCKER:  Judge, can I ask if the courtroom clerk

wouldn't mind putting us in a breakout room?

Mr. Nelson, did I understand that the discovery can be 

picked up today? 

MR. NELSON:  Yes, that's correct.
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MR. ZUCKER:  Great, I'll contact you after this,

appreciate it.  Thank you.

THE COURT:  Thanks, folks.

MS. FIFIELD:  Thank you, Your Honor.

MR. NELSON:  Thank you, Your Honor.

     (Video conference adjourned at 10:24 a.m.)
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CERTIFICATE 

I, Crystal M. Pilgrim, Official Court Reporter, certify 

that the foregoing is a true and accurate transcript, to the 

best of my ability, of the proceedings remotely reported in the 

above-entitled matter. 

Please Note: This hearing occurred during the COVID-19 

pandemic and is, therefore, subject to the technological 

limitations of court reporting remotely.  

 

_____________________________________    _____________________ 
/s/Crystal M. Pilgrim, RPR, FCRR, RMR    Date:  May 17, 2021 
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